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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The campus of the Junior Order United American Mechanics National Orphans Home,
located on a lovely 300-acre tract of rolling farmland just south of Lexington,
is an ambitious complex of five major buildings built between 1925 and 1932. The
buildings are laid out around a rectangular quadrangle, based loosely on the Uni-
versity of Virginia campus as designed by Thomas Jefferson, a concept also reflected
in the Colonial Revival style of the individual buildings. The Administration
Building, the first structure to be completed, is located at the east end of the
quadrangle on a slight knoll, forming the focal point of the east-west axis. The
campus is reached by a circular driveway on the west side of NC 8 which provides
access to the east (rear) elevation of the Administration Building. Three dormitories
and an auditorium form the north and south sides of the quadrangle; the west end is
open with a view of the meadows and service buildings in the distance.

The Administration Building, completed in 1927, is a Colonial Revival style
structure with a three-story centear block with pedimented porticos flanked by long
arcaded one-story wings and is finished with fine quality materials and craftsman-
ship. The main block, seven bays wide and three bays deep, faces the quadrangle to
the south and is connected to the paved sidewalk around the quad by three flights of
wide steps with two landings. A full-size Ionic quatrastyle portico, with a clock
centered in the pediment, projects from the main facade. The rear elevation has an
identical portico. The columns are constructed of limestone, the floor of slate,
and the pediment of wood. At the second story level is a wide wooden entablature
surmounted by an attic with a hipped slate roof. On the north and south sides of the
main block is a pedimented pavilion, with windows with decorative iron grills. These
pavilions balance the porticos and provide a transition into the wings, twelve bays
in width, which are arcaded on the main elevation and fenestrated on the rear eleva-
tion. The walls are laid in Flemish bond brick on a concrete foundation, with twelve-
over-twelve sash in the first story and eight-over-eight in the second story and
attic. The windows are set in wide wooden surrounds, and brick flat arches with
stone keystones surmount the openings. 1In the center bay of the front and rear
elevations is an imposing entrance. Each is a trabeated stone surround with flanking
pilasters and stained glass transom containing the emblem of the Junior Order of
United American Mechanics executed in stained glass. The design consists of a man's
arm holding a mallet inside the Masonic compass and carpenter's rule flanked by
American flags. Each entrance has replacement plate glass doors. The interior of the
main block has a cruciform plan, with wide hallways intersecting in the central
rotunda. In the richly colored terrazzo of the floor is the same JOUAM emblem,

executed in terrazzo.

The three dormitories, the Pennsylvania Building (""Pioneer Cottage") on the south
flank of the quadrangle, the South Carolina Building (now the Children's Emergency
Shelter) at the northwest corner, and the North Carolina Building on the north flank,
were built between 1927 and 1929. All three are quite similar in detailing to the
Administration Building, but have domestic massing in contrast to its institutional
design. FEach is a long two-story brick Colonial Revival style building articulated
by projecting pedimented pavilions and attic dormer windows.
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The last major building on the campus, the Samuel F. Vance Auditorium, completed
in 1932, is located on the south side of the quadrangle between the Administration
Building and the South Carolina Building. Although smaller than the main building,
its Neo-Classical design gives it more monumentality than the Colonial Revival style
of the main building. The two-story main block, set on a raised basement, has a
quatrastyle pedimented portico with large stone Doric columns reached by a wide
ascending staircase of three flights with two landings. Three stone entrances with
double wooden doors open to the lobby. Flanking arcaded wings, seven bays in width,
contain classrooms. The main block extends seven bays to the south to accommodate
the auditorium. A two-story rectangular rear wing with pedimented Doric entrance
porticos on the east and west gable ends contains the gymnasium and swimming pool.
The Auditorium is finished in the same fine quality brick, stone and wooden materials
as the earlier campus buildings.

The service buildings (including a brick power plant, brick laundry building,
brick "farmer's cottage," and engineer's cottage) and a large feed barn and dairy are
located at the far west end of the campus. These were completed by 1930 and have the
same expensive materials and workmanship but have functional designs.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Junior Order United American Mechanics National Orphans Home, known locally as the
Junior Order Home, is a complex of Colonial Revival style brick buildings built between
1925 and 1932 on a 300-acre campus south of Lexington. The most ambitious public
building project in Davidson County prior to the 1970s, the Home is a landmark to the
public spirit and foresight of Lexington citizens in the 1920s. The quadrangle plan,
based on Jefferson's concept for the University of Virginia campus, was designed by
Herbert Hunter of High Point. Under a project begun in 1972, the buildings are being
carefully restored to their original beauty, and the Home continues to be operated by
the North Carolina Council of the Junior Order, although the emphasis has shifted from
the original full-time residential care to placement services and community outreach.

CRITERIA ASSESSMENT

A. Derives its primary significance from the historical achievement of the state
chapter of the Junior Order of United American Mechanics, under whose leadership
the second orphanage of the national order was established and prospered in
Lexington, North Carolina from 1928 to the 1940s.

C. Architecturally significant as the most ambitious public building project in
Davidson County prior to the 1970s.



HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

At the national convention of the Junior Order of United American Mechanics in
1923, the North Carolina delegation gave $250,000 to establish a branch of the
National Junior Order Orphans Home in North Carolina. The citizens of Lexington
raised $35,000 to purchase the 300-acre R. A, Taylor farm, three miles south of the
city, for the home.! The property was deeded to the National Council of the JOUAM
on January 16, 1924.2 The JOUAM, a patriotic fraternity, was founded in Philadelphia
in 1853. Among the pledges in the foundation charter of the order were declarations
"against foreign combination and foreign competition to American labor," and to
"beware of foreign influences,” indicating that the organization functioned as an
early labor union. The North Carolina chapter was organized in 1892, coinciding with
the industrial renaissance in the state following the postbellum depression. The
strength of the JOUAM among Lexington citizenry was probably related to Lexington's
prominent position as a center of textile and furniture manufacturlng By 1929 there
were thirty state orders throughout the country.

The North Carolina Orphans Home in Lexington was the second orphanage established
by the national order. The first, the Home at Tigfin, Ohio was begun in 1896, and by
1929 it had 1,035 children on an 850-acre campus. Both homes followed prevailing
philosophy on foster care, with children housed in "cottages,'" and an emphasis on
vocational education. Both orphanages were financed by contributions from various
state chapters, and individual structures were named for the states which capitalized
them.

With J. W. Stout & Company of Sanford as the contractors, the cornerstone of the
first structure, the Administration Building, was laid in 1925 with completion of the
structure on June 4, 1927.° 1In the latter year, the first two dormitories, the
Pennsylvania Building (also known as the '"Pioneer Gottage") and the gouth Carolina
Building (now the Children's Emergency Shelter) were also completed. The first
dozen shildren arrived in 1928, and by 1929 the home had about 140 orphans in resi-
dence. The fourth major structure, the North Carolina Building, another dormitory,
was constructed by Goode Construction Company of Charlotte in 1929. Between 1927 and
1929 most of the service buildings were completed. These included the power plant,

a brick laundry building, a large feed barn and dairy, a "farmer's cottage," and an
engineer's cottage.8 The last major unlt in the complex, the Samuel F. Xance Audi-
torium, which included a gymmasium and swimming pool, was built in 1932.
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In the 1930s, a large farm was put into production, supplying the needs of the
Home and giving the boys practical training. Boys were trained in the dairy and
print shop, and girls learned household, nursing and library skills. All education
was provided in the Home during the early years of operation; later the children
were sent to Davidson County public schools. By 1939, with 250 children in resi-
dence, all dormitory space was full and the Junior Order Home had reached the height
of its growth. 1In 1940 the North Carolina Council took over control of the home from
the National Council, and still owns and governs the home.

The growth, decline, and redirection of the Junior Order Home throughout the
course of the twentieth century has paralleled national trends. Between the 1940s
and 1970s, enrollment at the Home dwindled as the psychology for treatment of orphans
and foster children changed from a long-term institutional emphasis to an emphasis on
permanent adoption by individual families. In the early 1970s the buildings reached
a low state of repair; but in the past decade the program has been revitalized by
redirection toward temporary foster care and community outreach and the entire campus
is being carefully restored to its original condition. The Junior Order Home is
still a vital institution in the foster care program in Davidson County.

Footnotes

l"An Achievement of The North Carolina Juniors," Junior Order United American
Mechanics History (Western Section-North Carolina, 1929), pp. 55-67.

2Davidson County Deed Book 96, page 44, North Carolina State Archives, Raleigh,
N.C.

3"A Short History of the Junior Order United American Mechanics,'" Junior Order
United American Mechanics History, 1929, pp. 4-21.
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